1978

Thorn Construction Company, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant Utah Department of Transportation

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case arises out of a construction contract and involves the interpretation of contract specifications and whether the Respondent contractor is obligated to follow the contract as it is written or is excused from compliance with certain provisions regarding notice. Finally, the case involves the question of the amount of damages the Respondent is entitled to recover.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Third District Court, the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow presiding, awarded Plaintiff-Respondent Thorn Construction Company judgment against Defendant-Appellant for the sum of \$24,500.00. This trial Judge determined that Respondent was entitled to additional compensation over and above contract unit prices for certain changes in the contract and that Respondent was excused from specification requirements to file notice of its intent to claim compensation or to provide details regarding how its unit prices were affected to Appellant. Finally, the Court allowed Respondent to present its evidence of alleged damages based on a "total cost" theory of damages over objections by Appellant.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the Judgment in favor of Respondent for \$24,500.00 and in lieu thereof a judgment for the sum of \$1,791.30, which amount was conceded by Appellant as due and owing based on an analysis of the unit cost for borrow material.

In the alternative, Appellant seeks a new trial with instructions that Respondent is not excused from compliance with contract provisions relative to notice of intended claims and from the requirement to base its claims for additional compensation upon detailed information related to changes in contract unit costs. Further, Appellant requests that the Court determine that Respondent cannot use the "total cost" approach as its method of establishing compensation.

As a further alternative, Appellant seeks a reduction in the judgment to correspond with the evidence before the Court.

FACTS

The parties on March 27, 1973, entered into a contract, a part of which was for construction of an access road at Rockport State Park.

Part of the contract provided for the importation of 28,100 cubic yards of borrow material. Section 106.02 of the State of Utah Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction (1970 Edition), hereinafter "Standard Specifications," sets forth the requirements for suitability of such material. Neither the contract special provisions nor plans specify any source for the borrow material. The contractor determined his own source as provided in Section 106.02 of the Standard Specifications, and the State tested it for suitability.

Prior to submitting its bid, representatives of the Respondent visited the work site and Appellant's employee, Virgil Mitchell, accompanied them on an inspection. A "possible source" (R. 8, 10) referred to as the "Utelite Pit" was viewed. Virgil Mitchell was not the project engineer, and he had not been authorized by the engineer as his agent to make representations concerning the plans for the project. Mitchell is not trained or experienced in testing for suitability of materials, and he did not know of any previous use of the "Utelite Pit!" (R. 188-189) He simply stated that the source could "probably be used." (R. 8, 10) At the pre-construction conference Respondent stated it would use the "Utelite Pit" as its borrow site. When the source was tested in August of 1973, it was found to be unsuitable. (R. 37) Respondent

thereafter obtained suitable borrow material from Orland Crandall in Peoa. The increased distance one way to the alternate source is 1.7 miles. (R. 89) No notice either verbally or in writing was transmitted to Appellant by Respondent regarding a claim for additional compensation for the increased haul distance during the project. (R. 40) Specification No. 105.17 states that notice in writing is a pre-condition to a claim for additional compensation prior to doing the work. (Exh. D-1)

The actual measured quantity of roadway excavation was determined to be 15,305 cubic yards after the project was completed. This is more than a 25% underrun in the proposed quantity. Section 104.02 of the Standard Specifications states that Respondent can "demand a supplemental agreement." That section allows for price adjustments, but does not allow for anticipated profit. (Exh. D-1) Appellant requested data from Respondent regarding how its bid price was calculated, but Respondent refused to supply said data until trial of this matter. (R. 69, 88) The evidence shows that Respondent based its bid as follows:

Loading, hauling, placing and compacting	.95
---	-----

Fixed costs, overhead and profit	<u>.25</u>
-------------------------------------	------------

TOTAL	<u><u>1.20</u></u>	(R. 88)
-----------------	--------------------	---------

During the project it was determined by Appellant that certain approaches and turns should be widened. On September 6, 1973 or thereabout, the Respondent was directed by the project engineer to accomplish the necessary widening. (R. 47) No amount was agreed upon or discussed as payment for this extra work. The Respondent did not notify Appellant in writing that it would claim additional payment before doing the work. (R. 40, 50) Respondent alleged that its records showed a total cost of doing this work in the amount of \$56,985.07. (R. 63) This amount was calculated using actual paid labor and equipment based on rental rates established by the Associated General Contractors (AGC). To this amount was added certain factors for overhead and profit, which are percentages of the total. Respondent did not offer evidence to show how its "unit costs" were affected by the change in plan. (R. 65, 66) Respondent deducted payments made by Appellant at the unit price as bid leaving a balance of \$38,642.83. Appellant's evidence shows that \$1,791.30 would be due Respondent for the quantity underrun. (R. 280)

The matter was tried to the Court, the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow presiding, on September 22, 1977, and judgment was entered on the 6th day of January, 1978, for the sum of \$24,500.00.

Appellant thereafter filed this appeal.

POINT I

RESPONDENT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON REPRESENTATIONS, IF ANY, BY VIRGIL MITCHELL, OR RESPONDENT IS ESTOPPED TO CLAIM THAT THERE WERE REPRESENTATIONS BECAUSE THE CONVERSATION WAS "MERGED" IN THE CONTRACT.

A. NO RIGHT TO RELY ON STATEMENTS OF VIRGIL MITCHELL.

Respondent's evidence at trial showed that Grant Thorn, Jerry Thorn, Jack Jones and Larry Davis as representatives of Respondent Corporation visited the job site on the 19th of March of 1973 prior to submitting its bid. (R. 7) Said individuals have spent most of their adult lives in construction work, and Larry Davis is a graduate civil engineer. (R. 9, 11, 28) Said company has for years engaged in highway construction and has specialized in highway paving work. Said company also has operated and carried on sand, gravel and rock mix operations. (R. 28)

At the time Respondent's agents visited the job site, an employee of the Appellant, Virgil Mitchell, toured the area of the job site with said individuals. The evidence shows that the said Mitchell has been employed by the Appellant for twenty-four years. During that time he has not worked in the area of materials, testing or inspection, and he has no training or education in materials. (R. 188) The evidence further showed that he knew nothing about the adequacy of the material on the Utelite property, didn't know of its being used by others or anything about that pit

site, except that it was available as a "possible" borrow source. (R. 188, 189) (Also, see Finding of Fact No. 4)

Grant Thorn stated that Virgil Mitchell showed them the pit as a "possible source" for borrow material. (R. 8, 10, 12)

The Court in its Finding of Fact No. 5 has stated the following:

Relying on the representations of Mr. Mitchell, Thorn entered its bid in connection with the Wanship highway construction project and calculated the bit item of borrow on the basis of Mr. Mitchell's representations that the material from the Utelite pit could be used as borrow on the construction project.

The record further shows that Mitchell had not been designated by the Appellant's engineer, Ed Watson, to represent him or to make any representations concerning the project or any work items, and particularly materials. (R. 189-193)

The record does not disclose that Mitchell made any representations concerning the borrow material in the Utelite pit as to its suitability or availability other than as a "possible source." (R. 8, 10, 12, 189-193)

The State of Utah Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction (1970 Edition) which are incorporated as part of the contract (Exh. D-1) state the following with regard to examination of the work:

Section 102.05. Examination of plans, specifications, special provisions and site of work: The department will prepare full, complete and accurate plans and specifications

giving such directions as will enable any competent contractor to carry them out. The bidder is required to examine carefully the site of the proposed work, the proposal, plans, specifications, supplemental specifications, special provisions, and contract forms before submitting a proposal. The submission of a bid shall be considered prima facie evidence that the bidder has made such examination and is satisfied as to the conditions to be encountered in performing the work and as to the requirements of the plans, specifications, supplemental specifications, special provisions, and contract. (Emphasis supplied.)

Section 106.02 of said specifications (Exh. D-1) governs the contractor's responsibility in providing materials. In this contract there are no designated material sources. The section referred to says in part:

. . . When material deposits are not designated in the special provisions, the contractor shall provide sources of acceptable material. . . .

The section further outlines that the responsibility is on the contractor to secure and provide the source and to explore and develop it. The State is further required to test the material for its suitability.

The record further discloses that Virgil Mitchell at the time of the alleged representation in March of 1973 was employed as an engineer's aid and accompanied Respondent's agents and employees as an accommodation to them. (R. 187, 195-197)

Respondent asserts that it relied on Mitchell's "representation" in preparing and submitting its bid, and the

Court has erroneously found this to be a fact and has allowed Respondent to recover for damages allegedly resulting from increased haul distances in transporting borrow material to the job site from an alternate source.

Appellant respectfully submits that Mitchell's statements do not amount to a positive representation or misrepresentation on the basis of the facts in evidence. (R. 8, 10, 12, 187, 200) Assuming a positive statement was made which Appellant asserts is not supported in the record, it is submitted that it was made without the authority of the State Engineer and the State herewith disclaims said representations or misrepresentations. On the basis of the evidence there is nothing to show that Mitchell had any authority to make any representations in conflict with the contract, plans, specifications, etc. No inquiry was made of Mitchell as to his authority. (R. 189, 193)

The case of State v. Bates, 20 Ut.2d 75, 435 P.2d 417, has enunciated the doctrine that the State is not bound by unauthorized statements of an employee absent a showing that the employee was "held out as having authority." The Court in that case said the following:

An officer can, however, bind his government only by acts which come within the just exercise of his official powers and within the scope of his authority, unless the government held out the officer as having authority to do the acts. An unauthorized act or declaration of an officer does not estop the government from insisting on its invalidity.

It should be understood at this point that Mitchell was not authorized to make any representations other than those consistent with the plans and specifications. (Exh. D-1, Sec. 105.09) (Also, R. 16)

It is difficult to understand how the trial Court concluded that Respondent is entitled to rely on Mitchell's so-called "representations." There were four representatives of Respondent, including a civil engineer who examined the materials site. These men are experts in the field of road building and particularly road building materials. (R. 28) It is inconceivable that they would rely in any way on representations by Mitchell when they well knew that he was not the project engineer and when their own expertise in materials is so evident.

At the very least the Respondent had a duty to inquire of Mitchell as to his authority if they wanted to rely upon statements made by him.

The obvious conclusion is that the question of whether the material would meet the specification for borrow was probably not of concern to anyone. Almost anything will meet the specification for borrow. (R. 28, 32-33) There was not much likelihood that Respondent was concerned about anything except the fact of the materials availability from the owner and what the price would be. Since Respondent cannot show that they specifically inquired of Mitchell regarding the suitability of the material or that he in fact knew about

the materials inadequacy and failed to advise Respondent, it was error to charge Appellant with responsibility for the added costs of obtaining material from an alternate site. The United States Supreme Court has laid down guidelines in a series of cases as to when a contractor can and cannot recover for alleged misrepresentation: One of the leading cases is MacArthur Brothers Co. v. U.S., 258 U.S. 6, 66 L.Ed. 433, 42 S.Ct. 255 (1922). The Court there said the following:

In the case at bar the government undertook a project and advertised for bids for its performance but there was no knowledge of impediments to performance, no misrepresentations of the conditions, exaggeration of them nor concealment of them, nor, indeed knowledge of them. To hold the government liable under such circumstances, would make it insurer of the uniformity of all work and cast upon it responsibility for all the conditions which a contractor might encounter and make the cost of its projects always an unknown quantity. (Emphasis supplied.)

Appellant respectfully submits that the same standard applies to representations by Appellant, be they written or verbal. The Respondent must show in either event that Appellant had (1) knowledge of impediments to performance; (2) misrepresented those conditions; (3) exaggerated them; or (4) concealed conditions. Here the Respondent has not shown that Virgil Mitchell had: (1) Knowledge that the Utelite Pit material was in fact unsuitable; (2) that Mitchell in fact misrepresented condi-

tions; (3) there is no evidence that Mitchell tried to build up the source or said anything about the source; (4) there is no evidence of concealment of any evidence of conditions by Mitchell. (How could he conceal anything if he didn't know anything?)

Clearly the trial Judge has committed error in concluding that Respondent can rely on "representations by Mitchell" and can therefore recover for the additional cost of going to an alternate source.

Since the Court made no breakdown of damages which it awarded Respondent, there is no way to separate the amount of recovery allowed Respondent for this erroneous award, and Appellant is therefore entitled to a new trial on this point alone. It is also entitled to directions to the trial Court not to allow recovery by Respondent for any damage related to the obtaining of borrow material from a source other than the Utelite Pit.

B. ESTOPPEL BY REASON OF MERGED CONVERSATION

Appellant believes there is also a "merger" question. The conversation with Mitchell took place before the submission of Respondent's bid. (R. 6-10) All conversations are therefore merged under familiar principles of contract law. This Court stated the following in the case of National Surety Corp. v. Christiansen Brothers, Inc., 29 U.2d 460, 511 P.2d 731:

. . . Where parties engage in negotiations concerning a transaction pursuant to which they enter into a written contract, it is presumed that all matters relating to subject are merged in and constitute a complete integration of their agreement.

Obviously, the agreement is silent as to material sites or representations of any kind relating to them, and Respondent should therefore be estopped to assert anything concerning alleged statements by Mitchell since the conversation took place prior to the execution of the contract.

POINT II

RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO TIMELY NOTIFY APPELLANT OF INTENTION TO CLAIM ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION IS A WAIVER OF RIGHT TO RECOVER SAME UNDER THE CONTRACT.

Respondent brought suit to recover additional compensation for, among other things, (1) the increased costs of obtaining material from a borrow source located further away from the construction than the planned source; and (2) increased costs of widening roadway sections already completed or partially complete when directed to do so by the engineer.

In the first instance there was no mention of a claim for additional compensation by Respondent during the period of construction. In the second case, there was apparently a discussion between Dennis Weir of Respondent and the State's engineer, Ed Watson. Weir alleged in the discussion which was held either September 6 or September 9, 1973, that

they would need additional money, and Watson allegedly agreed to this. (R. 50) No dollar amount was discussed and nothing was said about filing a notice of a claim or being excused from filing a claim.

In neither one of these instances was there a written notice filed by Respondent that it intended to claim additional compensation.

Section 105.17 of the Standard Specifications reads in pertinent part as follows:

If, in any case where the contractor deems that additional compensation is due him for work or material not clearly covered in the contract, . . . the contractor shall notify the engineer in writing of his intention to make claim for such additional compensation before he begins the work on which he bases the claim. If such notification is not given . . . then the contractor hereby agrees to waive any claim for such additional compensation. . . .

This fact alone should defeat Respondent's claim to any additional compensation related to the obtaining of borrowed material. In the absence of a waiver of said specification, the Respondent is clearly bound to give the requisite notice.

Appellant asserts that the Court erred in deciding that,

. . . Mr. Weir and Mr. Watson had enjoyed a favorable working relationship in connection with other projects with which they had both been involved in the past. Mr. Weir relied on the statement of Mr. Watson

to the effect that Thorn would be paid whatever additional costs were incurred in changing the turning radii, although a specific amount was not agreed upon.

Mr. Weir was never informed by Mr. Watson that he did not have to file a written notice. (R. 70)

Secondly, Mr. Weir knew of the specification requirement and had in fact filed notices of this character on other projects. (R. 72)

Since Mr. Watson did not tell Mr. Weir that he did not have to file a written notice of claim as required by the specifications, how can the Court conclude that Respondent had any right to rely on the statement of Mr. Watson that Thorn "would be paid" and that this excused Respondent from compliance with a contract provision?

Appellant submits that far from sustaining Respondent's position, the facts of the matter indicate a waiver by Respondent of its right to compensation by its silence and failure to file the notice in advance or a claim for compensation until after the project was complete. Appellant in the absence of a notice of a claim by Respondent was entitled to assume that Respondent was satisfied with the unit price and waived a claim for any additional payment.

The obvious conclusion is that the Court was wrong in concluding as it did in Conclusion of Law No. 2 that the provisions of Section 105.17 do not apply and that

the contractor is excused from giving notice of its intent to file a claim.

This Court in the case of Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319, said the following at page 1322:

. . . unless there is some showing of legal excuse or justification for failure to perform the obligations of a contract, it must be enforced according to its terms. [Citing Puggi v. Skliris, 54 U.88, 179 P.79 (1919)]

This proposition applies even more forcefully when the State is a party. As the U.S. Supreme Court said in the case of Federal Crop Ins. Corporation v. Merrill, 332 U.S. 380, 68 S.Ct. 1, 92 L.Ed. 10:

. . . Whatever the form in which the government functions, anyone entering into an arrangement with the government takes the risk of having accurately ascertained that he who purports to act for the government stays within the bounds of his authority. . . .

The record in fact shows that Appellant's engineer Watson in response to a question from Respondent's counsel about how he would characterize his relationship with Mr. Weir prior to the conversation about payment for the extra work of widening the curves radius said the following: (R. 28)

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