1978

Ranch Homes , Inc. v. Greater Park City Corporation : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for damages for breach of contract.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After a trial, the court entered judgment in favor of plaintiff for the sum of \$42,587, with interest thereon from May 1, 1975, in the amount of \$6,196.12, for a total judgment of \$48,783.12, plus plaintiff's costs of \$655.30.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent, Ranch Homes, Inc., seeks affirmance of the judgment of the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ranch Homes, Inc., is a closely held Utah corporation formed in the summer of 1974 by James D. Fahs, Jr., G. Michael Tuckett and Grant S. Kesler. Prior to their association in

Ranch Homes, Fahs had been employed by appellant, Greater Park City Company ("GPCC"), designing condominiums, doing subdivision layouts, managing construction, and preparing feasibility studies for housing in the Park City area (R 590); Tuckett had been a GPCC project engineer (R 674); and Kesler had been in private law practice in Salt Lake City.

Robert W. Wells was employed by GPCC from 1971 through 1975, and was its executive vice-president for the last three of those years (R 746). As early as December, 1973, while both Fahs and Wells were with GPCC, the two traveled to California together (R 591), and during that trip Fahs discussed with Wells the fact that he and his associates wanted to develop a residential subdivision in Park City that would be primarily composed of approximately 103 to 105 lots on a 30-acre parcel of property. At that time Fahs told Wells that he believed there was a tremendous market for an FHA-approved type of subdivision with FHA insured loans.

During the next 5 to 6 months Fahs and Wells carried on negotiations, discussing at various times what Fahs and his associates were proposing (R 592). September 3, 1974, after Fahs and Tuckett had left GPCC and had formed Ranch Homes, the two companies entered into a contract, titled "Option Agreement" (Exhibit 2) under the terms of which Ranch Homes

paid GPCC \$10,000 for an option to purchase approximately 30 acres in the Holiday Ranch area, adjacent to GPCC's own planned development of housing, equestrian trails, a golf course, a tennis center and other improvements (R 594, Exhibit 3).

The contract was not a typical option. It consisted of 16 pages of terms and conditions, many of them relating specifically to the development planned by Ranch Homes.

In addition to describing the property, establishing the purchase price, and providing the date and method for exercise of the option, the contract permitted Ranch Homes to receive conveyances of 10-acre parcels of property upon the payment by Ranch Homes of the per acre price (Ex. 2, ¶16). It provided that the property would be utilized as the site for the development, construction and utilization of no more than one hundred and five single-family residential home sites and homes, and that for a period of twenty years, none of the option property could be utilized for any other purpose without GPCC's prior written consent (Ex. 2, ¶10). Ranch Homes and parties purchasing from it were not to construct any improvements, buildings or structures upon the option property without GPCC having first approved the detailed plans and specifications, and it was acknowledged and agreed by Ranch Homes that all decisions as to the acceptability or approval of such plans and specifications

would be in GPCC's sole and unrestricted discretion. In order to obtain such approval, Ranch Homes or the parties purchasing from it were to submit copies of proposed plans and specifications, and if GPCC did not approve the plan, it was to indicate the portions that it didn't approve, whereupon revised plans might be submitted.

Ranch Homes also agreed that the improvements, buildings or structures would be constructed in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by GPCC and that completed streets and utility installations would be subject to acceptance by GPCC as being constructed in accordance with said approved plan and specifications (Ex. 2, ¶ 11).

Ranch Homes and its authorized representatives were to have the right, prior to the exercise of the option, to enter upon the property for the purpose of examining and investigating it, though it was not to alter the surface of the property until it had exercised the option (Ex. 2, ¶ 12).

GPCC acknowledged its intention to construct an 18-hole golf course in the area and agreed that a designated area would not be used for any other purpose for a period of ten years (Ex. 2, ¶ 19).

GPCC agreed that if the option were exercised it would install or cause to be installed an eight-inch water line and an eight-inch sewer line extending from the trunk line

to the water and sewer system of Park City Municipal Corporation; underground electrical lines; a paved roadway to the boundary of the option property; and a drainage system. Construction of the road and utilities, a major undertaking, would have cost about \$500,000 (R 774), and GPCC agreed that in event of exercise of the option it would provide assurance in a form satisfactory to Ranch's construction lender that its obligation to install the utilities and roadway would be fulfilled (Ex. 2, ¶ 20).

Ranch Homes agreed that it would discharge all liabilities arising out of activities upon or in connection with the option property prior to the conveyance dates (Ex. 2, ¶ 24), and that in the event of construction prior to the conveyance dates it would furnish a payment bond to GPCC (Ex. 2, ¶ 25). Ranch Homes was to provide insurance, was to comply with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, rules and orders (Ex. 2, ¶ 26), and paragraph 29 of the contract contemplated that Ranch Homes might engage in presale activities, including execution of purchase agreements prior to the conveyance dates.

The option was to be exercised by giving written notice to GPCC on or before 5:00 o'clock p.m. on April 1, 1975 (Ex. 2, ¶¶ 2 and 3).

After the option agreement was entered into, it was necessary for Ranch Homes to perform a great deal of preparatory work to determine whether it would be to the company's

advantage to exercise the option and pay to GPCC the amount approximately \$500,000 over the next four years including \$50,000 within one month after exercise of the option. Accordingly, the company's officers set about developing the plans. At that time the property, which had recently been annexed by Park City, was unzoned, and the city was in the process of rewriting its entire zoning ordinance (R 594).

In order to achieve the zoning necessary to permit development of the property, Fahs, as president of Ranch Homes, Inc., met with the city's master plan committee to obtain approval of the cluster housing needed to develop 3.5 units per acre, this density being necessary to make the Ranch Homes plan work. The plan of Ranch Homes was approved by Park City in early 1975 and sent to the planning commission. Final approval by the city council was obtained in March or April 1975 (R 594).

It was also necessary for the company to obtain FHA approval of the project, which required preparation of final architectural drawings as a prerequisite to an FHA appraisal. The appraisal would permit the company to place a value on the houses. In the spring of 1975, Ranch Homes succeeded in obtaining an "ASP-9" feasibility letter from FHA (R 595-596).

While this was going on, Fahs was also negotiating with lending institutions, meeting with them repeatedly to arrange for financing of the subdivision (R 596).

Ranch Homes had to produce plans and specifications for the Federal Housing Authority for the project generally, including a floor plan, elevations, sections, and construction detail; type of concrete; the soil bearing pressure; lumber, shingles, and so forth. Feasibility studies were needed for Park City, for the Federal Housing Authority, and for financing institutions (R 597). For FHA approval it was necessary to prepare a certified soil survey. Tuckett prepared plans for off-site improvements, including 30 sheets of drawings for road profiles, sewer, water, and curb and gutter. The cul-de-sac design required more engineering in order to obtain city approval (R 598).

Ranch Homes was told by the lending institutions that the lenders would need assurances that the road and utilities promised by GPCC would in fact be built (R 607, 608). Fahs requested the assurances from Wells (R 610), but was told that GPCC wasn't going to build the road and utilities (R 611). The parties attempted to work something else out. Various meetings were held and various proposals were made by GPCC (R 612), but the assurances were never received. On April 1, 1975, prior to 5:00 o'clock p.m., a letter exercising the option was delivered to GPCC and in accordance with the terms of the contract, closing of the transaction was set for April 30, 1975 at 10:00 o'clock a.m. (Ex. 1). Ranch Homes continued in its attempts to obtain the assurances. The

officers were sent by GPCC to Los Angeles to talk with Don Prell of Union America, Inc., the company that was to own Holiday Ranch after a reorganization then in progress (R 614).

Ranch Homes never did receive any assurances that the roadway and utilities would be built, but were told by GPCC and by Don Prell that they would not be built. Accordingly, when the time for closing the transaction arrived on April 1, 1975, Ranch Homes relied upon GPCC's manifestation that it was not going to perform and did not attempt to close the transaction (R 615).

In reliance on its contract with GPCC, Ranch Homes spent \$27,587, including \$2,587.39 advanced by a related corporation in which the Ranch Homes principals were involved (R 599-603, Exhibits 5 and 6). In addition, the officers of Ranch Homes performed other valuable services for which they expected to be paid (R 627-677). There was testimony that the services performed by Fahs were worth \$17,500, over and above the compensation he had received from Ranch Homes (R 628), and that the value of the plans and specifications prepared by Tuckett, for which he had not been paid, was \$26,000 (R 676).

The case was tried twice, once to a jury and once to the court. In the first trial the jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiff for \$27,587 out-of-pocket expenditures and \$16,000 lost business profits, the court having refused

to submit to the jury the question of the value of services performed by corporate officers (R 92). On appellant's motion, the court granted a new trial. At the beginning of the second trial, the court ruled that the value of the services of corporate officers were recoverable, but that anticipated profits were not. After the trial, the court found that Ranch Homes had spent the sum of \$27,587, and through its officers had performed services of a value of \$15,000 in reasonable reliance on the contract. It entered judgment accordingly with interest and costs.

Other facts relating specifically to the points raised by appellant will be discussed in the arguments to which they are germane.

ARGUMENT

I

Plaintiff's expenditures were reasonable, were made in reliance on the contract, and were foreseeable at the time the contract was made.

We have no quarrel with the rule of foreseeability as it relates to the determination of damages for breach of contract. The rule has been stated with minor variations since its pronouncement in 1854 in the landmark case of Hadley v. Baxendale, 9 Exch. 341, 156 Eng. Rep. 145

Where two parties have made a contract which one of them has broken, the damages which the other party ought to receive in respect of such breach of contract

should be such as may fairly and reasonably be considered either arising naturally, i.e., according to the usual course of things, from such breach of contract itself, or such as may reasonably be supposed to have been in the contemplation of both parties, at the time they made the contract, as the probable result of the breach of it. Now, if the special circumstances under which the contract was actually made were communicated by the plaintiffs to the defendants, and thus known to both parties, the damages resulting from the breach of contract, which they would contemplate, would be the amount of injury which would ordinarily follow from a breach of contract under these special circumstances so known and communicated. * * *

The rule is adopted in substance by Restatement of Contracts, § 330, which provides:

In awarding damages, compensation is given for only those injuries that the defendant had reason to foresee as a probable result of his breach when the contract was made. If the injury is one that follows the breach in the usual course of events, there is sufficient reason for the defendant to foresee it; otherwise, it must be shown specifically that the defendant had reason to know the facts and to foresee the injury.

In Pacific Coast Title Insurance Company vs. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company, 7 Utah 2d 377, 325 P.2d 906, 907 (1958), the rule is stated by this court as follows:

The rule as to what damages are recoverable for breach of contract is based upon the concept of reasonable foreseeability that loss of such general character would result from the breach. Therefore, to be compensable, the loss must result from the breach in the natural and usual course of events, so that it can fairly and reasonably be said that if the minds of the parties had adverted to breach when the contract was made, loss of such character would have been within their contemplation. [emphasis added]

Although we don't quarrel with the rule, we do quarrel with the appellant's tortured application of it, with the

insistence that the opinions of its experts were controlling, with the disregard of contrary evidence, with the attempt to shift its burden of proof to the respondent, and with the treatment of fact issues as if they were law issues.

In its litany of expenditures that were not "foreseeable and reasonable," the appellant has not considered the general character of the losses which would likely result from its breach of contract, but only fragments of specific items of damage. It has also disregarded those portions of the testimony and the terms of the contract from which the court could (and properly did) find foreseeability.

The appellant has treated the contract in this case as if the only pertinent part was the title. But as pointed out in the statement of facts, the agreement was not only an option, it was a definitive contract relating to the development of the 30 acres of property in Park City, and the entire contract, including the seven months lead time between granting of the option and the date for its exercise, shows knowledge upon the appellant's part that Ranch Homes was going to proceed with its plan for the development of the property.

Before the contract was entered into, Fahs and Robert Wells of GPOC had discussed the plans for the property. Mr. Fahs testified (R 592):

I discussed with Mr. Wells the fact that we wanted to develop a residential subdivision in Park City that

would be primarily composed of approximately 103 to 105 lots to a 30-acre piece of property. We discussed various locations as to where we thought the best one was. We also expressed to him that we felt that there was a tremendous market for an FHA approved type of subdivision with providing FHA insured loans in that community and we thought it would be a success and basically our negotiations revolved around that for the next five to six months discussing at various times what we were proposing, the fact that he wanted it to have some control and oversee what our plans were and approve them prior ahead of time so that we were constructing something in the Holiday Ranch that would be an asset to the Ranch as opposed to something that would be detrimental.

The contract itself contemplated planning. Ranch Homes was to be permitted to enter the property before exercise of the option and to make measurement. The property was to be utilized for development of approximately 105 single family residential home sites and homes. Plans were to be submitted to GPCC. GPCC was to install or cause to be installed a roadway and utilities, and "on or before the closing date" it was to provide Ranch Homes a flow line elevation and the location of the eight-inch sewer line. It was to provide assurances as to completion of the roadway and utilities by evidence satisfactory to Ranch Homes's construction lender prior to the closing date. And Ranch Homes had the right to engage in presale activities, including the execution of purchase agreements, prior to the time that any conveyances were made.

In its "ten-point must not" argument beginning at page 5 of its brief, the appellant challenges a number of specific

items it believes were improperly allowed as damages.

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